B EAST RIDING

Two Great Churches:
One Town’s Story

The purpose of the exhibition

You may not have realised that Beverley’s two main churches, the Minster and St Mary’s, are
exceptional.

We tend to take for granted the area in which we live, often not seeing how rare and beautiful our surroundings are until somebody from

the outside points them out, or for some reason they are lost forever.

Sir Alec Clifton-Taylor, in his book ‘Six More English Towns’, says “To this day the place [Beverley] has not one but two front-rank churches:
St John and St Mary”. Of the Minster he says “/ have no hesitation in saying that, after Westminster Abbey, this is the finest non-cathedral
church in the kingdom”. Sir Simon Jenkins, ex-chair of the National Trust and author of ‘England’s Thousand Best Churches’ has declared

that St Mary’s and Beverley Minster are his “two favourite churches”.

However, both are currently under threat from a lack of resources to carry out essential
restoration work.

St Mary’s Church is suffering from decades of piecemeal maintenance and has now reached the stage where large-scale restoration
work is essential to prevent the church from falling down. Beverley Minster has managed to keep up with much of its maintenance from

ongoing funds, but now needs to carry out large-scale work which is well beyond the scope of existing resources.

Both churches are therefore applying to funding sources, such as the Heritage Lottery Fund, for grants to carry out the most urgent work.

However, in an unusual move, the churches are exploring the possibility of working together rather than competitively to obtain funding.

We are trying to help - and so can you!

When applying for funding it is vital for the applicant to show that they have the support of the community. This exhibition aims to
demonstrate the importance of the two churches in a local, national and international context, and illustrate how vital it is for the

restoration work to be done to prevent the churches deteriorating beyond our capacity to save them.

It is hoped that as a result of this exhibition the local community will value the churches more highly and be more prepared to support
them in their fundraising attempts. Visitors to the town are urged to visit both churches and discover their architectural beauty and

spiritual resonance.

Have a look at the last panel in the exhibition, which outlines what is happening for the fundraising, and how you can contribute your

support in a way that the churches can use in their applications.

But first, every good project needs a Plan!

The first stage of the fundraising project was to prepare a Conservation Management Plan for both churches. The Plan for Beverley was
compiled in 2013-14 by the Church Buildings Council using work done for the purpose by two postgraduate students at the University of
York. Alongside this exhibition a draft of the Conservation Management Plan will be presented for public consultation so that you can be

involved in the development process.

If you are interested in commenting on the consultation draft please ask for a copy of the document

and send your comments to fiona.jenkinson@eastriding.gov.uk, or pass written comments to us

directly. You can also post your written comments to Fiona Jenkinson, East Riding Museums Service,

Treasure House, Champney Road, Beverley, HU17 8HE.
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St John and the Minster

There is no doubt that the roots of Beverley’s history can be traced to her famous Minster
Church. In his work, The Ecclesiastical History of the English People (completed in 731), Bede
wrote of the life and times of John, bishop of Hexham, who was renowned for his miracles of
healing. Following reported miracles at John’s tomb, he was canonised as St John of Beverley
in 1037 by Pope Benedict IX. Such rumoured Godly powers had been eagerly nurtured by
respective kings and clergy, to the point where, by the year of the great Norman invasion

of 1066, St John had a national cult following and a Minster constructed in his honouir,
supposedly on the site of his monastery. Praying to St John before battle was believed to
guarantee battlefield success. Kings and nobles paid homage to St John before the battles

of Brunanburh, Agincourt, in the War of the Roses, and even as late as the English Civil War.
In consequence, the Minster grew exponentially from 1220 to 1425, and also became a

destination for pilgrims — around which the town of Beverley formed.

In 1180 a great fire engulfed Beverley, causing extensive damage to the early Minster, and the
temporary loss of the bones of St John. The bones were found nine years later and re-buried

in a lead coffin. They remain central to the Minster to this day.

The present Minster, possibly started in the late 1100s, is thought to be the fourth church built on the site. Although built over a 200 year

i

period, with architectural styles ranging from Early English to Perpendicular, the church still retains a sense of architectural unity.

After the Dissolution of the Monasteries in the 16th century, the Minster lost its

collegiate status, and on Easter Day 1548 became a parish church like its sister,

St Mary’s. The building was given to Sir Michael Stanhope (deputy governor of 3 |
- ST

Hull) who wanted to knock it down and sell the stone, but this was opposed by
the townspeople possibly, in part, because of its status as a parish church by
this time. Instead they knocked down the Chapter House and sold the stone
from this, raising the £100 required to buy the Minster from Stanhope. Despite
this downfall St John’s kept its Minster title, and remains the oldest and largest

building in Beverley still used for its original purpose.
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A further threat to the Minster’s
survival was experienced in the 18th sn—
century when the north transept

) i townspeople to buy the Minster for £100.
started to lean, possibly due to its
foundations on marshy ground, worsened by an earthquake in 1703. An extraordinary feat of

engineering was undertaken from 1717 to 1731 to restore the transept to the vertical using a

technigue devised by Nicholas Hawksmoor. The success of this work means that the Minster of St

John’s remains to this day as the principal architectural ornament of Beverley.

The Minster nave with the tomb of St John in the floor
of the foreground.

The original steps in the north chancel aisle are all that remains of the
original octagonal chapter house which was knocked down to allow the
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Drawing of Hawksmoor’s scaffolding used to push
the north transept back to the vertical during the
18th century restoration.

central tower. This was removed again in 1824.
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While Hawksmoor was carrying out the restoration of the north
transept in the early 18th century a dome was also added to the

ERYMS 1997.494

John Phillips

Colin Bradshaw
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Discover the important
features of Beverley Minster

Here we look at some of the features of Beverley Minster that make it so important. These were highlighted in the Conservation

Management Plan, which also assessed the relative significance of the church’s key features.

Beverley Minster is part of the ‘Greater Churches Network’ and is
recognised as being one of the finest Gothic churches in Europe. The
church bears witness to over 1300 years of occupation and worship and is

a symbol of civic identity, visible for miles around.

The Minster is a major landmark feature that dominates the town.
Together with St Mary’s the two churches frame the town, giving Beverley
its particular identity. The presence of a centre of worship from the 8th

century has also been essentially responsible for the town’s existence.

4
Martin McNicol

The Minster is still a pilgrimage church retaining the relics of St John of -
. _ ) . - Beverley Minster as seen across the town from St Mary’s Church
Beverley, a nationally important saint who is recognised as patron of the

deaf because of some of his early miracles. The church is also an extremely important visitor attraction in the

town which, in addition to its role as a practising church, also provides a venue for numerous secular events.

Landscape, archaeology and ecology

To the south of the Minster is Hall Garth, originally the site of the Archbishop’s Palace and now protected as a

Scheduled Ancient Monument.

The churchyard is a valuable green space containing some Anglo-Saxon burials to the south of the nave, which
have the potential to provide evidence for the location and orientation of previous church structures. The north

east churchyard also contains the foundations of the lost 13th century chapter house. The churchyard and

Joan Kemp

precinct are also of potential ecological value for the trees and lichen, and for the several species of bats that
Parts of the remaining

have been recorded here. earthworks are still visible on Hall
Garth from the time of its use as
the location of the Archbishop’s

Architecture i

Despite being built over a period of 200 years the Minster remains a
coherent architectural entity of impressive size and aesthetic quality.

Architecturally it represents building styles from Early English style at

the east end, through Decorated style in the nave, to Perpendicular

style at the extreme west end. Its double transept plan is shared with %

many other quintessentially English cathedrals, and the standards of

architectural design are comparable to, yet predating, Westminster
Abbey.

John Phillips

The numerous masons’ and carpenters’ marks throughout the

The west doors display 18th

building are of archaeological value with the potential for further century carvings designed by
Nicholas Hawksmoor.

study. The marks provide links with the craftsmen employed on St

Mary’s and there is also significant correspondence between

ﬂi the masons’ marks on the north aisle piers of Beverley
, ll IL- 1111| (. Minster with those in the east end of York Minster.

SANBEEERE RIS EE
T T T I Tl -

The Minster’s east and west fronts are considered ~ The restoration of the north transept by Nicholas Hawksmoor

excellent examples of their respective periods . L o
of Gothic architecture, with the west end in in the early 18th century was significant, not only in its

particular representing a superlative example of

; . preservation of the Minster but in the development and
Perpendicular design.

history of technology and engineering.

EAST RIDING
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High roofs

Lead has a finite lifetime of 150 years, after which it becomes essential to carry out
restoration work to supplement the lead content. Although the lead on the aisle roofs has
been replaced as part of ongoing maintenance, all the lead on the Minster’s high roofs
now needs to be replaced as a matter of urgency. The lead will be removed, melted down,

supplemented with new lead and replaced on the roofs.

Great windows

Likewise, the lead in both the east and west windows is now in need of replacement to
prevent the windows falling out. This is particularly important in the east window which

contains the Minster’s only remaining medieval glass.
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John Phillips
John Phillips

The lead in the east window needs to be replaced. As does the lead in the west window.

Visitor access and amenities

Whilst re-leading the roofs and windows is a matter of urgency, additional work is also required on improving the visitor access and

amenities. At present the only access not via the Highgate steps is alongside the toilets, which is considered inappropriate. It is therefore

these elsewhwere.

The added section of building containing the
toilets and boiler will be removed and the
facilities re-sited elsewhere.

John Phillips
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; vﬂ svue’ | v "vﬁ ": (el The lead on the high roofs needs to be replaced - the aisle
AREATASAUARIN | ) - roofs have been repaired as part of ongoing maintenance.

The steps up to the Highgate entrance need to be replaced
by a more accessible entrance.

proposed to improve visitor access through the Highgate entrance. At
the same time the toilet facilities themselves are also considered to be
inadequate for such a building. It is therefore proposed to remove the

section of building containing the toilets and boiler room and re-site

John Phillips

John Phillips
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Discover the important
| features of St Mary’s Church

Here we look at some of the features of St Mary’s Church that make it so

important. These were highlighted in the Conservation Management Plan, which

also assessed the relative significance of the church’s key features.

St Mary’s is nationally acclaimed as a fine example of one of England’s ‘major
churches’. Although it is smaller than the Minster the two churches together frame
the town and contribute greatly to the town’s identity. The sheer size of St Mary’s,
and the quality of its craftsmanship, reflects the prosperity of the medieval town
and the ambition of the merchants and guilds to separate the “town’s” church

from the influence of the Minster.

Martin McNicol

St Mary’s Church as seen across the town from the Mmster

([ J
Architecture
The present form of St Mary’s is the result of centuries of evolution in architecture and changing demands of the liturgy. The church has

evolved from its original Norman form through the development of Gothic architecture between the 13th and 15th centuries, and major

restoration work by the country’s leading architects during the 19th century.

One of the key features of St Mary’s architecture, however, was the desire to separate it from the Minster in its ecclesiastical design.
Although inspiration was drawn from the mother church the citizens aspired to develop the town’s church into something different, thus

making the two churches completely different in architectural character.

Surviving traces of the original Norman church are very rare, but a few can still be seen, and

Early English features are also important remnants of the early church.

Chris Hairsine

Norman zig-zag leading from the north transept to the
north chancel aisle. This has probably been re-used from
a different location, and would not originally have been in

2 _,#" __4 _;_ e = . this Gothic arch shape.
Re-set Norman zig-zag arch round the main south Chamfered p//nth in the south aisle of the chancel,
doorway. This has probably been moved from a different probably in its original location in the Norman church.
location.

Chris Hairsine

The 14th century additions of St Michael’s
chapel, the sacristy and the priest’s rooms
are exceptionally high quality designs by
Richard and Ivo de Raughton. These are
believed to have been used as models for

later work in York Minster.

‘Stiff-leaf’ carving on one of the pillars
of the south transept is an Early English
feature of the late 12th/early 13th
century church.

| ey

Fragment of Early English
dogtooth’ carving

Martin McNicol

Chris Hairsine

The revolutionary stone vaulting and uniquely

traceried windows of St Michael’s chapel are One particular stone adorned with a graffito and a mason’s mark (in the
exceptional examples of the work of Richard and Ivo Priests” Room), is believed to be the work of the Raughtons, and is of
de Raughton. significance in this region as evidence of the work of these two craftsmen.

EAST RIDING
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Also in the 14th century sacristy is a three-light window containing the only piece of

remaining medieval glass in the church.

The restoration campaigns of the two Pugins in the 19th century are excellent
examples of the work of two nationally important architects. Their work enhanced
the south transept, the west windows and much of the interior, whilst
still remaining sympathetic to the earlier medieval character of the

building
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The elegant flying buttresses on the south transept
were proposed by A.\W.N. Pugin in 1844 to reduce
movement of the transept, and were eventually
added by his son E.W. Pugin in 1853.

Chris Hairsine

Art history

Chris Hairsine

The only piece of remaining
medieval glass in St Mary’s.
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The three west windows were
designed by A.W.N. Pugin.
The large central window was
installed in 1850, the right
(situated over the font) in 1852,
two months after Pugin’s death,
and the left (near the south
entrance) in 1855.

Fal i
L | ¥
i, |€‘ e
I "
F’

)
M b

v$
I

o
8.4 1

L]
A
i M

)

T

Chris Hairsine

The oak pews, each carved with an
individual floral motif on the end,
were added by E.W. Pugin in 1866.

Chris Hairsine

St Mary’s as a whole has a superb collection of monuments, fixtures and fittings with exquisite design quality.

Wikimedia Commons

he painted ceiling of the chancel, originally dating from
1445 with the addition of George VI when the ceiling

was restored in 1939, represents a highly unique scheme
of paintings of exceptional art historical significance.

Some of the most interesting and
significant items of historical interest are
stored in the Priest’s room, in particular a
Maiden’s Garland dating from 1680, which
is the oldest surviving example in the

country.
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The misericords in the chancel are examples of the fine wood carving
of the Ripon carvers dating from 1445, earlier than those in the
Minster. The carvings also represent the development of the ‘wild man’
misericord in English art. They were placed in their current position as
part of the 19th century Pugin restoration work.

Wikimedia Commons
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The design of the blue painted ceilings with
gold stars in the nave, aisles and transepts
dates from the 15th century and contributes
significantly to the aesthetic value and
general identity of the church.

Chris Hairsine

Further artistic interest can be seen in the collection of 625 ceiling
bosses throughout the church, all of which are different.

Maiden’s Garland: Usually
these were made of paper,
which is why it is very rare for
them to survive. The one in St
Mary’s is made of bent wood.
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Chris Hairsine

Chris Hairsine
Chris Hairsine

The priests’ rooms, above St Michael’s chapel and the sacristy, are an exceptional
treasure trove of historical and art historical items, including the town stocks, two
scold’s bridles, the parish bier, parts of the medieval woodwork, an Elizabethan
bell, a wayfarer’s lantern, Pugin’s original weather vane, items of worked stone
including the Easter sepulchre, and numerous unidentified architectural relics.

The parclose screen adjacent to

St Michael’s chapel is part of the
remaining medieval woodwork.
Fragments of the rood screen are

also stored in the priests’ room.

The carved alabaster pulpit was designed by
Sir George Gilbert Scott, a notable English
Gothic revival architect working in the 19th
century, who also designed the organ screen
in the Minster.

Chris Hairsine
Martin McNicol

The 19th century reredos was designed by J.Oldrid Scott (son of The octagonal font is an example of

HiStorical Signiﬁcance Sir George Gilbert Scott). early 16th century carving.

Much of St Mary’s historical significance lies in its development as the “town’s church” with strong ties
to the town’s mercantile community who wanted their church to be distinct from the mother church, the
Minster. Past restoration work by nationally notable architects and craftsmen, many of them linked to

both Beverley and York Minster, also makes the church of historical significance.

The fall of the tower in 1520,

a significant local event which

cost the lives of many of the
congregation, is commemorated
on a wooden pew that is now held
in the priest’s room. The pew itself,
although now in pieces, is of great
historical significance.

The carving of a rabbit
adjacent to the sacristy door
is historically important
because it is believed to
have been the inspiration for
Lewis Carroll’s White Rabbit.

Chris Hairsine

Archaeology

Several items of archaeological importance have been uncovered and investigated during recent work. For example, during construction
of the new church hall substantial 14th century limestone wall foundations were observed. While a new staircase and lift in the nave
were being constructed an earlier stair, possibly from the late 13th or early 14th centuries, was revealed. Further investigation when

opportunities arise may allow greater understanding of the original 12th century structure.

Liturgical significance

The architecture of the church is dictated by the liturgical rites that take place within it. The internal layout therefore contributes to our

understanding of liturgy within a late medieval church.

Spiritual significance

St Mary’s has a sense of stillness and peace which appeals not only to Christians but also to those not
of the Christian faith. However, it is the church’s continuous 800 year history of worship, particularly
through its early links to the trade guilds and the townspeople, that has given St Mary’s its historical

value as a centre of religion in the town.

EAST RIDING
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